#### SUPREME COURT FILED

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JUL 16 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

LUIS GONZALEZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

 $\mathbf{v}$ 

### JOHN R. MATHIS AND JOHN R. MATHIS AS TRUSTEE OF THE JOHN R. MATHIS TRUST

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, Case No. B272344

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC542498, Honorable Gerald Rosenberg, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

The following issues were presented in the Petition for Review (Pet.) at p. 5:

- 1. Whether a hirer who delegates responsibility for worksite safety to an independent contractor nonetheless may be liable in tort for injury sustained by the contractor's employee when the hirer does not retain control over the worksite and the hazard causing the injury was known to the contractor.
- 2. Whether, even assuming a hirer may be liable in such circumstances, the Court of Appeal properly held that the hirer is entitled to summary judgment only if the hirer establishes as a matter of law that the contractor could unilaterally have taken reasonable safety precautions to remedy the hazard causing the injury.

The following additional issue was presented in the Answer to the Petition for Review (Ans.) at p. 5:

3. Where a house cleaner is injured because he reasonably went to the work location by traversing a portion of the hirer's property which is dangerous as a result of the hirer's negligent failure to maintain the property, and the cleaner has no authority or ability to restrict access or make changes to the dangerous location, has the hirer "retained control" and affirmatively contributed to the cleaner's injury under *Privette v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689, such that he may be held liable to the cleaner?

#### INTRODUCTION

Over the last 25 years, beginning with *Privette v. Superior* Court (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689, this Court has carefully defined and limited the circumstances in which an independent contractor's employee may recover in tort from the party hiring the contractor. Under those decisions, when employees of independent contractors are injured at a worksite, they generally cannot sue the party that hired the independent contractor. (See *SeaBright Ins. Co. v. US Airways, Inc.* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 590, 594.)

This Court has identified two exceptions to Privette's general rule: (1) when the hirer retains control over the contractor's work and affirmatively contributes to the injury (see Hooker v. Dept. of Transportation (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198); and (2) when the hirer fails to warn the contractor of a concealed hazard (see Kinsman v. Unocal Corp. (2005) 37 Cal.4th 659). Absent those narrow exceptions, this Court has explained that "[b]y hiring an independent contractor, the hirer implicitly delegates to the contractor any tort law duty it owes to the contractor's employees to ensure the safety of the specific workplace that is the subject of (Seabright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594, italics the contract." added.) As a result, "when employees of independent contractors are injured in the workplace, they cannot sue the party that hired the contractor to do the work." (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.)

Applying those principles, the trial court held that the employee of an independent contractor (plaintiff Luis Gonzalez) could not recover against a homeowner (defendant Johnny Mathis) for injuries sustained when he fell while cleaning a skylight

located on the roof of Mathis's one-story home—a skylight Gonzalez had been cleaning without incident for 20 years. Because Mathis delegated control over the worksite to Gonzalez and did not affirmatively contribute to Gonzalez's injury, and any hazards were well known to Gonzalez, the trial court held that neither of *Privette*'s exceptions applied, and that Mathis was not liable for Gonzalez's injuries as a matter of law.

The Court of Appeal reversed, sharply departing from *Privette*'s settled framework by reading dicta in this Court's 20-year old decision in *Kinsman* to establish a third, previously unrecognized exception to *Privette*'s general rule. Pursuant to this new exception, the Court of Appeal held that a homeowner or other hirer is liable for injuries sustained by an independent contractor's employee "when he or she exposes a contractor (or its employees) to a known hazard that cannot be remedied through reasonable safety precautions." (Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, filed Feb. 6, 2018 at p. 19, attached hereto as Exhibit A (Op.).)

The Court of Appeal's new exception would work a sea change in California law that would eviscerate *Privette*'s careful framework and undermine its important policies. As *amici* representing the interests of homeowners, builders, the real estate industry, contractors, and insurers, among others, have explained, the Court of Appeal's decision would frustrate *Privette*'s goals and increase the costs of millions of transactions in California each year. This Court should prevent those consequences and reverse the Court of Appeal's decision for four principal reasons.

First, the Court of Appeal's new exception is fundamentally incompatible with this Court's own caselaw. In *Hooker*, the Court held that a hirer who retains control of a worksite is not liable for injuries sustained by an independent contractor's employee unless the hirer affirmatively contributes to the injury. (27 Cal.4th at p. 202.) But under the Court of Appeal's decision, a hirer who delegates control of the worksite and does not affirmatively contribute to the injury would now be liable. Penalizing property owners for delegating responsibility for safety to contractors not only makes little sense, it contradicts California's "strong policy in favor of delegation of responsibility and assignment of liability' to independent contractors." (SeaBright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 596, citation omitted.)

The Court of Appeal's exception also contradicts Tverberg v. Fillner Construction, Inc. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518, 521. There, this Court unanimously held that unless Hooker's retained control exception applied, an independent contractor could not recover from a hirer for injuries sustained by an open hazard, even though the employee claimed that he lacked "the ability to" remedy the hazard. (Answering Brief on the Merits, Tverberg, supra, 49 Cal.4th 518 (July 6, 2009, S169753) (hereafter Tverberg, Merits Ans. Br.), at p. 53, citations omitted.) Under the Court of Appeal's new exception, however, the opposite result would follow. Such an outcome would expose unwitting homeowners to catastrophic liability—even when the homeowner has no reason to believe the contractor cannot take reasonable precautions against any risk. And it is fundamentally inconsistent with Seabright's clear

guidance that a hirer may delegate "any tort law duty it owes to the contractor's employees to ensure the safety of the specific workplace that is the subject of the contract." (52 Cal.4th at p. 594.)

Second, the Court of Appeal's decision contravenes the important policies underlying Privette's rule. By sharply restricting a hirer's ability to delegate responsibility for safety at the worksite to an independent contractor, while substantially expanding homeowners' and other hirers' liability for injuries sustained by an independent contractor's employees, the Court of Appeal's decision undercuts the essential underpinnings of the Privette doctrine. As amici explain, the Court of Appeal's decision would discourage reliance on independent contractors, reduce workplace safety, interfere with the exclusivity of workers' compensation, and "arbitrarily favor some claimants with workrelated injuries over others"—results fundamentally at odds with what the *Privette* doctrine is designed to accomplish. (See Ltr. of Amicus Curiae, California Assn. of Realtors at pp. 3-5 (Apr. 6, 2018); Ltr. of Amicus Curiae, California Bldg. Assn., et al. at pp. 2-5 (Apr. 5, 2018); Ltr. of Amicus Curiae, American Insurance Assn. at p. 3 (Apr. 12, 2018); Ltr. of Amicus Curiae,  $\mathbf{of}$ California Associated Gen. Contractors at pp. 1-6(Apr. 13, 2018); see also Pet. at p. 24.)

Moreover, the Court of Appeal's exception would trigger harmful consequences that Californians can ill afford to bear increasing construction prices, driving up insurance premiums, exposing homeowners to heightened risk of "catastrophic loss," and substantially "increas[ing] the costs of purchasing or maintaining homes." (*Id.*)

Third, because *Privette*'s framework affects millions of transactions across California each year, the importance of fashioning rules in this area that provide clarity to hirers, independent contractors, and employees is paramount. But the Court of Appeal's decision would frustrate that important goal, replacing a settled and well-working framework with a rule that will be difficult to apply, and is certain to prolong litigation and render summary judgment effectively impossible in the many cases that implicate *Privette*'s rule.

Finally, the Court of Appeal's exception is premised on a misreading of *Kinsman*'s dicta that ignores the actual *holding* of that case and fails to account for important distinctions between common law premises liability principles and the very different context of hirer liability for an independent contractor's employee.

For all these reasons, the Court of Appeal's decision is wrong as a matter of law and policy, and should be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background

1. Defendant Johnny Mathis, one of the most well-recognized American recording artists of the twentieth century, has lived in the same one-story house in Los Angeles for 56 years.

(2-AA-317.1) The home has a flat roof, part of which is covered by a large skylight. (*Ibid*.)

Plaintiff Luis Gonzalez cleaned Mathis's skylight for roughly 20 years prior to the events at issue in this case. According to his marketing materials, Gonzalez has been a professional window and skylight cleaner "since 1988." (1-AA-162; 3-AA-667.) He began cleaning Mathis's house in the 1990s while working for Beverly Hills Window Cleaning. (2-AA-257-258.) In the mid-2000s, he started his own cleaning business, Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning, which he advertised as a professional, expert company that "[s]pecialized in hard to reach windows and (3-AA-669; see 1-AA-162.) By 2012, Gonzalez's skylights." company had 200-300 customers and seven employees. (3-AA-670, 674.) The company's advertisements touted his "[m]eticulous and careful workers" and represented that his employees were trained "to take extra care in his clients' homes, as well as with their own safety when cleaning windows." (3-AA-669.) Although he also represented that his company was bonded and carried insurance, never actually obtained workers' compensation Gonzalez insurance, in violation of California law. (3-AA-669, 675; see Cal. Lab. Code, div. 4, pt. 1, ch. 4, § 3700.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "AA" refers to Appellant's Appendix, and "RA" refers to Respondent's Appendix.

Had Gonzalez obtained workers' compensation insurance for his business, he would have received workers' compensation for his injuries. Having failed to acquire the insurance that he was required to obtain by California law, he looks instead to Mathis for recovery.

Shortly after opening his new business, Gonzalez contacted Marcia Carrasco, Mathis's longtime housekeeper, about hiring Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning rather than Gonzalez's former employer to clean Mathis's skylights, windows, and house. (3-AA-667.) Carrasco ultimately hired Gonzalez's company as an independent contractor to clean Mathis's skylight. (Op. at p. 5) From 2007 until December 2012, Hollywood Hills Window Cleaning was "regularly hired ... to wash the skylight and perform other services on the property." (Id. at pp. 2–3.)

Gonzalez relied on his expertise and decades of experience to oversee the cleaning of the skylight. Neither Mathis nor Carrasco ever told Gonzalez "how [his] company should do the services" or "how to clean the skylight[]." (1-AA-104; 2-AA-307; 3-AA-561.) Nor could they have supervised this work—Carrasco, then in her 70s, was a housekeeper who had been on the roof only three or four times in the entire 40 years she worked for Mathis. (3-AA-677–679.) Mathis, meanwhile, was almost 80 years old and recovering in the hospital from hip surgery at the time of Gonzalez's accident. (2-AA-317.)

2. Having cleaned Mathis's skylight for 20 years, and accessed the roof "many, many times," Gonzalez knew the details

The Court of Appeal loosely referred to Gonzalez (rather than his company) as the independent contractor, but it is undisputed that Mathis contracted with Gonzalez's company to clean the skylight. (See 2-AA-319). In any event, the *Privette* framework applies to injuries sustained by either "the contractor himself" or "the contractor's employee." (SeaBright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 600, italics omitted.)

of Mathis's roof well. (3-AA-673; see Op. at p. 3.) A one-story ladder accessing the roof is permanently affixed to the west side of the house. (Op. at p. 3.) An approximately three-foot high parapet wall begins near the top of the ladder, separating the main, interior part of the roof, including the skylight, from an exposed outer ledge, roughly two feet wide.<sup>4</sup> (*Id.* at p. 2.) Although ventilation pipes and other mechanical equipment somewhat limit mobility, Mathis presented video and photographic evidence that individuals can walk inside of the parapet wall, even side-by-side. (See 4-AA-838–841; see also 1-RA-1.)

Unbeknownst to Mathis, Gonzalez and his employees "always" used the ledge on the outside of the three-foot parapet wall to access the skylight. (Op. at p. 3.) Gonzalez "knew [that] the ledge lacked any protective features," such as guard rails. (Id. at p. 4; see also 3-AA-673). Gonzalez also stated that "[e]verybody knew" that the presence of loose pebbles and sand on the roof made it "slippery." (1-AA-144-146; see 3-AA-673.) Indeed, Gonzalez claimed that he discussed these conditions with his employees for years prior to his fall. (3-AA-673.) But there is no evidence that Gonzalez or his employees took numerous possible safety precautions against that purported hazard—such as sweeping up the alleged loose pebbles or sand, holding onto the parapet wall, walking on the inside of the parapet wall, putting up a ladder closer to the skylight, setting up a safety net near the workspace, using a harness, or other potential precautions. Instead, neither

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Photographs of the ladder, parapet wall, and ledge are available at 1-AA-48-58.

he nor his employees ever attempted to take any safety measures other than not walking too close to the ledge. (3-AA-564–565, 582).

Gonzalez even admitted below that there were at least "two preventive measures available in the instant case[:] repairing the roof and installing safety hooks." (Appellant's Opening Brief, Court of Appeal, filed Jan. 12, 2017, at p. 25.) But he did not allege nor point to any evidence that he ever asked Mathis or Carrasco to install safety hooks. And although Gonzalez claimed that he told Mathis's housekeeper that certain portions of the roof needed repair (Op. at p. 3), there is no evidence that he directed his employees not to clean the skylight in the meantime, or ever told Mathis or Carrasco that he could not safely clean the skylight absent those repairs.

3. In the summer of 2012, Carrasco once again hired Gonzalez to clean the house and the skylight. (3-AA-693.) While two of Gonzalez's employees were cleaning the skylight, Carrasco noticed water leaking into the house. (3-AA-568.) She asked Gonzalez to tell his employees on the roof to use less water so as to not damage the interior of the home. (3-AA-570.) After he spoke to his employees, Gonzalez decided to leave the roof. (1-AA-115; 3-AA-673.) In so doing, he chose to walk on the two-foot ledge outside the parapet wall, rather than walking inside of it. (*Ibid.*) He did not try to hold on to the parapet wall or take any safety precaution other than trying not to walk too close to the ledge. (3-AA-564–565, 3-AA-582.) Gonzalez lost his footing and fell to the ground, sustaining serious injury. (3-AA-580–583.)

#### B. Procedural Background

- 1. On April 11, 2014, Gonzalez sued Mathis, asserting claims based on premises liability and negligence. (1-AA-1-5.) After full briefing and a hearing, the trial court granted Mathis's motion for summary judgment on March 8, 2016, holding that under *Privette* and its progeny, Mathis was not liable for Gonzalez's injury.<sup>5</sup> (4-AA-870-871.) In so ruling, the court held that neither of *Privette*'s two exceptions applied. The court found *Hooker*'s retained-control exception inapplicable because neither Mathis nor Carrasco controlled the operative details of Gonzalez's work or affirmatively contributed to his injury. (4-AA-870.) The court likewise found *Kinsman*'s concealed-hazard exception inapplicable because "[n]one of the conditions were concealed to" Gonzalez, as Gonzalez readily admitted that he "knew of the purported dangerous conditions." (4-AA-871.)
- 2. The Court of Appeal reversed. (Op. at p. 2.) The court agreed with the trial court that Gonzalez was hired "as an independent contractor," and that his "claims are therefore subject

The trial court also sustained Mathis's objections to declarations submitted by Gonzalez's purported "experts" Brad Avrit (3-AA-625-629) and Ernest Orchard (3-AA-629-635). (See 1-RA-4-6; 4-AA-849-856.) Although Gonzalez did not appeal this ruling, he nonetheless impermissibly has sought at times to rely on the excluded evidence. (See Gonzalez Answer to Petition for Review, filed Apr. 6, 2018, at pp. 8-9, citing 3-AA-627, 631-633.) To the extent he attempts to do so again here, it is improper. (See Guz v. Bechtel Nat., Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 334, citation omitted [court reviewing grant of summary judgment shall not consider "evidence . . . to which objections have been made and sustained"].)

to *Privette* and its progeny." (*Id.* at p. 14.) The court further agreed that an independent contractor's employees are generally prohibited from suing the contractor's hirer for workplace injuries. (*Id.* at p. 4.)

The court next analyzed whether either of the "two exceptions" to Privette's rule articulated in Hooker and Kinsman applied. (Op. at p. 9.) The court first held *Hooker's* retained control exception was inapplicable because Gonzalez presented no evidence that Mathis retained control over the worksite in a manner that affirmatively contributed to his injuries. pp. 14-17.) The court rejected Gonzalez's argument that Mathis retained control because Mathis was allegedly "the only party who had authority to fix the dangerous conditions on the roof." (Id. at p. 16.) As the court explained, "[p]assively permitting an unsafe condition to occur" is "not sufficient to establish liability under Hooker." (Ibid., citation omitted.) The court also reiterated that a homeowner's "failure to institute specific safety measures is not actionable unless there is some evidence the hirer . . . had agreed to implement these measures." (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.) Because Gonzalez "presented no evidence showing that Mathis ever agreed to remedy the conditions on the roof," the court held that Mathis could not be liable under Hooker for Gonzalez's injuries. (Op. at pp. 16–17.)

The court next turned to *Kinsman*. Because Gonzalez admitted that he was well aware of the purported hazards on the roof, *Kinsman's* exception for concealed hazards indisputably did not apply. The Court of Appeal, however, believed that *Kinsman* 

provides for an additional exception. Relying on language it conceded to be "technically dicta" (Op. at p. 18, fn. 1), the court pointed to Kinsman's acknowledgment that there "may be situations . . . in which an obvious hazard, for which no warning is necessary, nonetheless gives rise to a duty on a landowner's part to remedy the hazard because knowledge of the hazard is inadequate to prevent injury" (id at p. 12, quoting Kinsman, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 673). Although Kinsman had no occasion, given the facts of that case, to decide whether or in what circumstances landowners would owe such a duty—or more importantly, whether that duty could be delegated like "any tort law duty the hirer owes to the contractor's employees" (Seabright, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 594), the Court of Appeal held that Kinsman created a third exception to Privette, resulting in the following rule: Although a "hirer cannot be held liable for injuries resulting from open or known hazards the contractor could have remedied through the adoption of reasonable safety precautions," a "hirer can be held liable when he or she exposes a contractor (or its employees) to a known hazard that cannot be remedied through reasonable safety precautions." (Op. at pp. 18-19.)

Applying this newfound rule, the court held that summary judgment was now unavailable to Mathis unless he could "establish[] as a matter of law that [the contractor] could have remedied the dangerous conditions of the roof through the adoption of reasonable safety precautions." (Op. at p. 20.)

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