SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 8 2018

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

LUIS GONZALEZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

JOHN R. MATHIS, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Supreme Court No. S 247677

2nd Civil No. B 272344 LASC Case No. BC 542498

From a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal
Division Seven, 2nd Civil No. B 272344
Los Angeles County, Hon. Gerald Rosenberg, Judge presiding
[LASC Case No. BC 542498]

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Evan D. Marshall [Bar No. 82444]
Attorney
11400 West Olympic Blvd., Suite 1150
Los Angeles, CA 90064
(310) 458-6660/Fax: (310) 458-9065

1. INTRODUCTION

Privette v. Superior Court (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 was intended to relieve hirers of vicarious liability for injury to contractors where the hirer has discharged his duty as a landowner by retaining the contractor for the purpose of curing the danger which caused the injury, or where the danger is created by the very project for which the contractor was retained. The premise of *Privette* is that the hirer has performed its non-delegable duty by retaining a contractor specifically tasked and qualified to remedy the danger, and hence charged with avoiding the dangers inherent in that very work. Far from creating a general exemption from the duty of care, *Privette*

holds that the hirer of an independent contractor is not vicariously liable to the contractor's employee who sustains on-the-job injuries arising from a special or peculiar risk inherent in the work.

[Tverberg v. Filner Construction (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518, 521, emphasis added]

Privette further assumes that the hirer has not increased risk beyond that inherent in the work by negligently influencing the manner or circumstances of performance. And Privette jurisprudence has always recognized that "delegation of duty" places on the contractor only such risks as are reasonably avoidable given the circumstances.

In this case, defendant John Mathis urges that he should be shielded from liability for garden variety neglect – failure to maintain the roof on his home in safe condition – which injured a contractor hired to clean his house, not to fix his roof. This immunity arises, he claims, simply because one item to be cleaned happened to be a skylight, and the poor condition of the roof happened to be

known to the worker. He regards as immaterial his own fault and the fact that his agent ordered Gonzalez to immediately climb the roof, impelling him into the known risk.

Mathis' contention represents "delegation" run amok: Mathis deliberately did not hire a contractor to correct the danger, despite Gonzalez's plea to retain a professional roofer, foreclosing the claim that such responsibility was delegated or assumed by Gonzalez

Mathis' proposed extension of *Privette* is anathema to the policies underlying that decision. It would diminish public safety by encouraging owners not to cure conditions by hiring qualified contractors, but instead leave the risk to be assumed by lower-cost and lower-skill workers neither tasked nor qualified to remedy the condition. Under Mathis' theory, *Privette* shifts the cost of such neglect to contractors never retained or paid to address the danger, and to a workers compensation system never designed to bear the costs of hirer/owner negligence not inherent in the contracted work. And it does so by relieving the hirer of the duty to hire contractors qualified to and charged with correcting known existing dangers.

The real issues are unfortunately obscured by the Opening Brief:

- > What risks are inherent in contracted work and hence implicitly or explicitly delegated to or assumed by a contractor?
- > How can a hirer or owner delegate to contractors having limited specializations and limited time and budgets the duty to control dangers which are not the subject of their work and which are only encountered in transit to the work site?
- > By refusing to retain a specialist competent to correct a preexisting danger on the premises, does a hirer retain control of that condition?
- > When a hirer explicitly directs a worker to act in manner that

exposes the worker to dangers beyond that incident to their normal trade, or causes the worker to immediately confront a risk not at the locus of the work, how can the hirer deny having exercised control?

Does Privette "delegation of duty" recognize limitations imposed on the contractor by time, resources, skill-sets and customer demands which constrain a worker's options in confronting a dangerous condition?

2. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Luis Alberto Gonzalez suffered paraplegia after falling from the edge of defendant's roof while returning from a skylight which was being cleaned. The fall was due to (1) lack of maintenance over decades which left the passable portion of the roof - a 20" strip - covered with loose sand and gravel; (2) a configuration of the property that induced Gonzalez to use the narrow and slippery roof edge to reach the skylight, and (3) the influence of defendant's agent, who insisted that Gonzalez mount the roof immediately to deal with leakage also caused by lack of proper maintenance.

A. The Deteriorated Roof and Skylight

During the 50 years he owned the single-story residence, John Mathis had remodeled several times, adding a roof over the pool and replacing the original pool skylight some 40 years ago. (App. 391) In 1972, Mathis installed a "parapet wall" to conceal air conditioning, duct work, pipes and other equipment on the roof. (App. 48, 626, 632; 52-58) The parapet was purely cosmetic (App. 446-447), leaving a 20" catwalk between parapet and roof edge. (App. 54, 436-437, 626, 641) The catwalk itself was cluttered with pipes and wires. (See photos at App.

54, 56, 58, 639-642) The skylight was about 85' x 85' and occupied much of the roof: one end reached the edge of the building and the rest was boxed in by pipes, conduits, etc. (See photos at App. 48, 52, 56, 58, 392) There was thus no direct clear route to the skylight.

Since the 1972 remodel, no major work had been done to the skylight.

(App. 391-392) At some point, Mathis had hired a roofer to fix leakage. (App. 432-431) This was "a very long time ago, I would say over 30 years, at the same time the skylight was replaced." (App. 432) The roof and skylight had a long history of problems with leaks; they were "in really bad condition" with leaks around the skylight and elsewhere. (App. 115:2-13; 430-432)

In addition to obstructions due to the roof equipment, the low-rise home presented limited means of roof access. Access at the front was impractical due to a 9' drop and an ornamental façade some 10' to 15' higher than the roof. (App. 412-416) The rear of the house had a low elevation. (App. 644) A metal ladder bolted to the west side with a hand railing reached over onto the roof created an obvious route. (App. 50, 58, 408-410, 626, 637) This was the "only reasonable access point" to the skylight. (App. 626) At the bottom of the ladder was a spigot for water used to clean the skylight (App. 626), and presumably used by gardeners to water plants on the roof. (App. 406-407, 54, 58) The ladder was the usual access point for air-conditioning workers, gardeners and others working on the roof. (App. 438-440) Workers were never told not to use it (App. 440), and Mathis understood that anyone washing the skylight would use the ladder to reach the roof. (App. 451-452)

Mathis and his housekeeper had never tried to walk on the side of the parapet away from the catwalk, and didn't know if it was safe or if someone could fit in it given the profusion of equipment. (App. 495-498) Mathis himself had not

been on the roof in five years, but used the ladder on the west side when he did climb up. (App. 394-396) He never walked in the cluttered area behind the parapet, finding it too constricted. (App. 399-400) There were no safety devices along the catwalk, such as tie-offs, hooks or places for harnesses. (App. 140, 627)

The roof was composed of an asphalt composite, originally with a sand and gravel coating. (App. 627) The catwalk surface was covered with loose sand and gravel as a result of years of neglect, with material sloughing off into the gutters. (App. 627, 632-633) A roofing expert attested that the roof composition (an asphalt cut-back with a granular surface) required maintenance every 3 to 5 years so that the granules do not become loose. (App. 631-633)

Mathis and his agents knew of the dangerous condition. (App. 557-560, 615) Mathis admitted that the catwalk was dangerous, and that this condition had existed since the parapet wall was constructed. (App. 426-428) His housekeeper Marcia Carrasco had known that the catwalk was dangerous for some 44 years and had warned gardeners who accessed the roof on a weekly basis about the danger, but never warned plaintiff. (App. 479, 486-489) Despite knowledge of the danger and that the ladder was used by "everybody" going on the roof (App. 439-440, 452), Mathis never remedied the problem, never installed safety hooks or devices, and never instructed anyone not to use the ladder or catwalk. (App. 425-426, 440 500, 609-612, 614-618)

B. Gonzalez Advises Mathis to Hire a Roofer

Several months before the accident, Gonzalez told Carrasco that the roof needed repairs because it was in a dangerous condition. (App. 303-304) Carrasco

Mathis thought a railing or safety barrier would "ruin the look" of the house. (App. 445)

got Mathis's accountant on the phone so Gonzalez could explain the need for expert repairs. (App. 304)

C. Gonzalez' Cleaning Job

Gonzalez had first worked on property as an employee of another cleaning company. In 2005, he started his own business, and Mathis's housekeeper Carrasco hired him for cleaning jobs. (App. 102, 491-492) Gonzalez was not licensed as a house cleaner since there is no such license category. *Business & Professions Code* §§7055 et seq. He did not have worker compensation coverage. (App. 257)

Over the years Gonzalez worked on the property, he had only known workers to use the permanent ladder to reach the roof. (App. 136-137) He was occasionally enlisted to do odd jobs besides cleaning: e.g., moving a sofa and fixing a lamp. (App. 418-419) Carrasco would tell Gonzalez what to do and the sequence in which to do it -e.g. to do the skylight first. (App. 133-134)

On July 30, 2012, Plaintiff began a 3-day "deep clean" on the house. (App. 74-75) On the third day, Carrasco told Gonzalez that she wanted some people to clean the skylight and others to clean inside. (App. 74, 550-551, 567) On Carrasco's order, Plaintiff sent two workers to the roof. (App. 567)

About an hour later, Carrasco told Gonzalez that the skylight was leaking and instructed him "to go up to tell them not to put a lot of water because the water was falling inside." (App. 76:3-6) "She just told me or sent me up above to tell them not to put a lot of water. That's why I went up." (App. 76:20-22; 114:13-18, 568-570)

Following Carrasco's instructions, Plaintiff climbed up the side ladder. Carrasco followed him onto the roof (App. 570-572), where she continued to instruct Gonzalez, telling him to talk with the accountant about his work. (App.

571-573, 575)

After speaking with his workers, Gonzalez returned along the roof edge towards the ladder, "the only way to get through because you have the AC equipment, and to get to the ladder you have to walk by the edge." (App. 115, 116:1-7, 575-578) As he walked towards the ladder, his foot slipped out from under him on the loose sand and gravel and he fell through the awning to the ground. (App. 115, 575-578)

D. Motion for Summary Judgment

Mathis moved for summary judgment on the ground that Gonzalez was an independent contractor and had voluntarily encountered the slippery catwalk.

(App. 14-35) His moving papers made no issue of the roof condition, whether the property configuration induced workers to use the catwalk, or whether Gonzalez had authority to remedy the deteriorated surface. He did claim, however, that control of the roof had been "surrendered" to Gonzalez, that Carrasco's role was "passive" (App. 31-32), and that Gonzalez was aware of the width of the catwalk, that it did not have rails or tie-offs, and of the loose sand and gravel. (App. 24)

Plaintiff's opposition asserted Mathis's breach of the duty to maintain his property in a safe condition, and that Gonzalez' knowledge of roof condition did not relieve Mathis of all duties given the foreseeability that workers would access the roof even in the absence of safety devices. Plaintiff further asserted that *Privette* was inapplicable since Mathis' liability was not vicarious but based on his own neglect. (App. 321-345)

In reply, Mathis presented a new declaration claiming the parapet was there to prevent falls (App. 809), contradicting his previous testimony that it was "purely for looks" (App. 446:11-16) and that no structure on the roof protected against

falls. (App. 447) He also contradicted his prior admission that he found it difficult to walk among the roof ducts and equipment, claiming it was easy to do so. (App. 818-819)

The trial court granted summary judgment on the grounds that Gonzales had been on the roof previously and knew the roof edge was slippery, and that as a contractor he was owed no duty by Mathis. (App. 870-871)

3. PRIVETTE DOES NOT EXEMPT HIRERS FROM LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENCE WHICH ENHANCES RISKS OR CREATES DANGERS NOT INHERENT IN THE CONTRACTED WORK

Mathis contends that there are just two narrow exceptions to a rule of otherwise complete immunity for hirers of independent contractors: (1) concealment of hidden dangers known to the hirer, and (2) negligent exercise of retained control. This is supposedly justified by the contractor's superior skill and knowledge. But Mathis does not explain why a property owner's duty with respect to roof maintenance would be assumed by a house cleaner, nor address the real point of *Privette*, which is the elimination of *vicarious liability* as to risks for which a contractor is actually retained.

Privette held that an employee of an independent contractor could not employ the "peculiar risk" doctrine to subject a non-negligent hirer to greater liability than the contractor actually at fault for the injury, but whose tort liability is limited by workers' compensation: "a non-negligent person's liability for an injury" should not be "greater than that of the person whose negligence actually caused the injury." (5 Cal.4th at 698) As Toland v. Sunland Housing Group, Inc. (1998) 18

Cal.4th 253, 265 explains, *Privette* eliminated a form of no-fault liability: "peculiar risk liability is not a traditional theory of direct liability for the risks created by one's own conduct: Liability under both [*Rest.2nd Torts* §§413 and 416] is in essence 'vicarious' or 'derivative' in the sense that it derives from the 'act or omission' of the hired contractor, because it is the hired contractor who has caused the injury by failing to use reasonable care in performing the work." *Privette* did not eliminate common law duties owed by the hirer, or create immunity for hirer neglect simply because the danger is some premises where work is being done.²

This case is a "perfect storm" of hirer neglect, illustrating the array of conduct against which *Privette* does *not* protect hirers and owners.

A. Privette Frees a Hirer of Liability Only for Risks Inherent in the Contracted Work and Hence Within the Contractor's Speciality

"Peculiar risk" imposes vicarious liability only for injury resulting from risks inherent in the contracted work. The cases thus consistently formulate *Privette* in terms of risks created by, or which are the subject of, the particular work for which the contractor is retained.

When, as here, the injuries resulting from an independent contractor's performance of inherently dangerous work are to an employee of the contractor, and thus subject to workers' compensation coverage, the doctrine of peculiar risk affords no basis for the

Toland applied the rule of Privette to derivative liability under Rest.2nd Torts §§413 and 416. Toland, supra, 18 Cal.4th at 270. Camargo v. Tjaarda Dairy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1235, 1244, held that "negligent hiring" is a form of vicarious liability since it is the contractor's acts or omissions that directly caused the injury.

employee to seek recovery of tort damages from the person who hired the contractor but did not cause the injuries.

[Privette, 5 Cal.4th at 702, emphasis added]

... the hirer of an independent contractor is not vicariously liable to the contractor's employee who sustains on-the-job injuries arising from a special or peculiar risk inherent in the work.

[Tverberg v. Filner Construction (2010) 49 Cal.4th 518, 521]

resulting from risks inherent in the hired work, after having assumed responsibility for all safety precautions reasonably necessary to prevent precisely those sorts of injuries, is not, in the words of Privette, supra, at page 694, a "hapless victim" of someone else's misconduct. In that situation, the reason for imposing vicarious liability on a hirer – compensating an innocent third party for injury caused by the risks inherent in the hired work – is missing.

[Tverberg, 49 Cal.4th at 528, emphasis added]

While Mathis persistently claims that SeaBright Insurance Co. v. U.S.

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